THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN 01 2020

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-002040

---

David Rosen.....Appellant,

v.

Josephine Middleton.....Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Joshua T. Hawkins, SC Bar #78470  
Helena LeeAnn Jedziniak, SC Bar #100825  
Hawkins & Jedziniak, LLC  
1225 South Church Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29605  
Tel: (864) 275-8142  
Fax: (864)752-0911  
josh@hjllesc.com  
helena@hjllesc.com  
**Attorneys for Petitioners**

Other Counsel of Record:

Devon Marc Pureifoy

### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in ruling that the respondent was abandoned by her attorney when she fired her attorney and failed to obtain new counsel.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The petitioner and the respondent were involved in a romantic relationship and lived with one another at 407 Tanner Chase Way, Mauldin, South Carolina 29607. On or about September 18, 2017, the respondent ended her relationship with the petitioner and instructed him to move out of the house. The petitioner complied with the respondent's request and began to move his possessions out of the house. The respondent prevented the petitioner from removing all of his possessions, including his car. The petitioner attempted to retrieve his possessions numerous times, but the respondent continued to prevent him from doing so.

On October 18, 2017, the respondent filed an Application for Ejectment, stating that the petitioner had moved out of her residence but had left items on the property. The petitioner continued to try to retrieve his possessions, even speaking with the police on October 20 and October 24. The respondent continued to deny the petitioner access to his property. On October 25, 2017, counsel for the respondent notified the petitioner that the respondent would allow the petitioner to retrieve his property in exchange for a payment of \$10,000.

On November 3, 2017, the petitioner, proceeding *pro se*, filed an action against the respondent in the Magistrate's Court. On December 13, 2017, the magistrate court informed both

parties, who were present with counsel, that the petitioner's complaint would be transferred to the Court of Common Pleas after the petitioner filed an amended complaint, which he did on December 15, 2017. Service of the amended complaint was made on January 12, 2018, on Michael Gambrell, the attorney of record for the respondent. Defense counsel did not file any responsive pleading. After the case was transferred, the petitioner served the amended complaint with the updated civil action number upon Gambrell on September 11, 2018. The petitioner also served discovery requests, including Requests for Admission, with the September 11, 2018, service of the amended complaint.

On November 23, 2018, the petitioner moved for default judgment or, in the alternative, summary judgment. On December 18, 2018, the Court heard the petitioner's motion and granted summary judgment in favor of the petitioner. The petitioner properly notified defense counsel of this hearing, but neither the respondent nor her counsel appeared. The Court scheduled a damages hearing for January 14, 2019. That hearing was rescheduled for January 17, 2019 and then for February 7, 2019. The petitioner provided notice to defense counsel of all three of those scheduled hearings. On February 7, 2019, defense counsel requested a continuance for the hearing. The Court rescheduled the hearing for March 4, 2019. Neither the respondent nor her counsel appeared. On March 5, the Court issued a Form 4 order awarding the petitioner \$61,233.00 in actual damages. The Court issued a formal order memorializing that award on March 25, 2019.

On September 16, 2019, the respondent filed a *pro se* motion to quash. In that motion, the respondent stated, "Michael Gambrell was not my attorney, I have not spoken to Michael Gambrell since Dec 13, 2017, he came to court at Alex Pattera request. (Alex Pattera was my attorney at that time) I have emails to Michael Gambrell from March 12, 2018 telling him I did not want him to represent me since he never contacted me. I have had no representation on the above claim [...]". On September 24, 2019, current counsel for the respondent filed a motion for substitution of

counsel and, on October 2, a motion for relief from judgment. On March 5, 2019, the court granted both of those motions.

The petitioner filed a notice of appeal on December 9, 2019. On January 14, 2020 the respondent filed a motion to dismiss appeal for lack of jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals granted that motion on March 19, 2020. This petition for certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The respondent cannot claim attorney abandonment when she fired her attorney and failed to obtain new counsel.**

In the memorandum in support of her motion for relief from judgment and at the hearing on that motion, the respondent argued that she is entitled to relief because she was abandoned by her counsel. In doing so, she relied almost entirely upon one case, *Maples v. Thomas*, 132 S.Ct. 912 (2012). The *Maples* petitioner was a capital prisoner sentenced to death in Alabama for the murder of two individuals. On direct appeal, both the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals and the Alabama Supreme Court denied Maples' appeals and affirmed his convictions and sentence. He then initiated postconviction proceedings with new counsel. Counsel for Maples filed a petition for postconviction relief, which was denied without a hearing. Notice of this ruling was mailed to Maples' attorneys of record. Because the attorneys had left their firm, the notices were returned to sender. The clerk of court, despite knowing that counsel had not received notice of the denied motion, made no further attempts to contact or locate counsel. The Alabama Assistant Attorney General later notified Maples that he had missed the deadline for appealing that denial.

In granting relief to the petitioner, the *Maples* Court stated, “[a]bandoned by counsel, Maples was left unrepresented at a critical time for his state postconviction petition, and he lacked a clue of any need to protect himself *pro se*. In these circumstances, no just system would lay the

default at Maples' death-cell door." *Maples* at 917. The Court held that, "under agency principles, a client cannot be charged with the acts or omissions of an attorney who has abandoned him. Nor can a client be faulted for failing to act on his own behalf when he lacks reason to believe his attorneys of record, in fact, are not representing him." *Maples* at 924.

The facts of *Maples* are not at all analogous to those of the present case. In this case, the respondent initiated the proceedings between the parties by filing a *pro se* application for ejectment. The respondent then attempted to extort the petitioner, informing him that she would only return his personal property if she paid him ten thousand dollars. After several attempts to retrieve his possessions, the petitioner filed a *pro se* complaint which, by the respondent's own admission, was properly served on the respondent. The petitioner and the respondent both attended a hearing in person, during which the court informed the parties that the matter was not concluded and that the case would be transferred from magistrate court to the Court of Common Pleas. The respondent then fired her counsel and failed to retain new counsel for eighteen months, during which time the Court awarded summary judgment and damages to the petitioner.<sup>1</sup>

The respondent initiated these proceedings out of spite and attempted to extort the petitioner. When these attempts failed, she fired her attorney and failed to obtain new counsel. Not only was the respondent aware that she was unrepresented, but she knew that she needed to protect herself *pro se*. She now claims attorney abandonment, which directly contradicts statements and representations that she made in her *pro se* motion to quash. The respondent cannot come to this Court with unclean hands and falsely claim attorney abandonment when, by her own admission,

---

<sup>1</sup> The petitioner notes that the lower Court's ruling and his inability to gain redress from the Court of Appeals violates his constitutional rights, including his right to Due Process and the Equal Protection clause of the United States Constitution.

she fired her attorney. That she failed to retain new counsel for eighteen-months does not entitle her to relief from judgment.

**II. Even if relief from a judgment were proper, a damages hearing, and not a re-set to before the grant of summary judgment, would be the proper remedy.**

As an initial matter, the respondent went into default when she failed to timely respond to the petitioner's complaint, and she is still in default. Also, relief from the judgment does not relieve the respondent from the grant of summary judgment. Said differently, if the Court denies the petitioner's motion to reconsider, summary judgment has still been entered against her and she is still in default. She would only be entitled to another damages hearing, not a reversal of the grant of summary judgment. The respondent has never filed any motion to withdraw deemed admissions as required by Rule 36, SCRPC, and those deemed admissions entitle the petitioner to summary judgment to this day.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated, the petitioner asks the Court to grant the petition for a writ of certiorari.