**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court**

RECEIVED

Jun 22 2020

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No. 2018-CP-23-00513

(Court of Appeals No. 2019-002040 – Ordered Dismissed on March 19, 2020)

Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2020-000829

DAVID ROSEN,

Petitioner,

v.

JOSEPHINE MIDDLETON,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Kimberly Thomason
SC Bar No. 79179
Devon Puriefoy
S.C. Bar No. 102097
TRULUCK THOMASON, LLC
3 Boyce Ave.
Greenville, SC 29601
Counsel for Respondent

Howard W. Anderson III
SC Bar No. 100329
LAW OFFICE OF
HOWARD W. ANDERSON III, LLC

ARGUMENT

“A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons.” Rule 242(b), SCACR. This Court should deny this Petition because no such reasons exist here. Even if the Court were inclined to want to resolve the Question Presented, the Question Presented is not properly before the Court, making this case an unsound vehicle. Finally, this Court would ultimately sustain the trial court’s judgment if it ever

reached the merits.

I. None of the Factors Identified in Rule 242(b), SCACR, Are Present.

“In 1979, the General Assembly created the South Carolina Court of Appeals for the purpose of reducing South Carolina’s appellate backlog. The Court of Appeals reviews criminal as well as civil appeals and this Court reviews its decisions by writ of certiorari only where special reasons justify the exercise of that power.” *In re Exhaustion of State Remedies in Criminal & Postconviction Relief Cases*, 321 S.C. 563, 564 (1990). In promulgating Rule 242(b), SCACR, this Court itemized examples that may justify certiorari. Petitioner does not cite, much less establish, any of those itemized reasons.²

II. Petitioner’s Question Presented Is Not Properly Before the Court.

Although the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction—thus never reaching the merits—the Question Presented here goes only to merits. The un-appealed jurisdictional ruling is the law of the appeal and not subject to review now. *See Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 255 S.C. 159, 161 (1970) (holding

² In a passing footnote, Petitioner suggests that the Court of Appeals somehow deprived him of his federal constitutional rights. [Pet. At 6]. That claim was not developed in the Court of Appeals. Even if it had been, Petitioner has offered no cogent argument for it here, making the claim waived. *Cf.* R. 242(d)(4), SCACR (requiring legal claims to “include citation of authority”).

that an un-appealed ruling “right or wrong, is the law of this case”). *See also State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142 (2003) (“No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.” (citation omitted)).³

Further, because this Court is a court of final review, not of review in the first instance, this Court requires that “[o]nly those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing ...be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented....” Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR. The Question Presented here was not raised in merits briefing—because none was ever filed. Nor was the Question Presented specifically enumerated in the Petition for Rehearing below. Questions not actually raised and ruled upon in the Court of Appeals are not suitable for *certiorari*. *See I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422 (2000) (noting South Carolina’s “long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments”).

For one or both reasons, this Petition has procedural problems that prevent it from being a suitable vehicle to actually resolve the Question Presented.

³ Petitioner does not discuss, much less refute, the cases that the Court of Appeals cited establishing the lack of subject-matter jurisdiction.

III. The Trial Court’s Judgment Would Ultimately Be Affirmed Even if Certiorari Were Granted.

Even if the Court could reach the merits at this time (as opposed to—later—upon an appeal from a final judgment), the trial court’s order would be sustained for at least two reasons.

First, the generous standard of review precludes this Court from second guessing the trial judge. Whether to grant relief from a judgment is committed to the discretion of the trial judge. *E.g.*, *Brown v. Weathers*, 251 S.C. 67, 72 (1968). Because there is “no hard and fast rule [that] can be laid down for the exercise of judicial discretion,” beyond that the trial judge should bear in mind South Carolina’s policy that “cases ...be tried and disposed of upon their merits,” *id.* (citation omitted), Petitioner faces an uphill battle to defend a judgment obtained without adversarial presentation. Further, Petitioner does not dispute that abandonment by counsel is an appropriate ground for setting aside a judgment. *See* [Pet. at 5-7]. While Petitioner thinks that the trial court was wrong to have found abandonment, “[t]his Court will not reverse the Circuit Court in its finding of fact, where there is any evidence to sustain that finding.” *O’Dell v. McElmurray*, 110 S.C. 80, 81 (1918). The fact that counsel did not ever appear in the trial court is at least some evidence to support that finding of

abandonment.⁴ Thus, no basis exists to disturb the trial court’s exercise of its discretion.

Second, even if abandonment were somehow not a correct basis to set aside the judgment, this Court “may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” R. 220(c), SCACR. As Petitioner himself admits, “neither respondent nor her counsel appeared” at any pre-judgment hearing below, and no answer to the Complaint was ever filed in the Circuit Court before judgment. [Pet. at 4]. As a matter of federal law, in any civil action “in which the defendant does not make an appearance,” 50 U.S.C. § 3931(a), “the court, before entering judgment for the plaintiff, shall require the plaintiff to file with the court an affidavit” indicating whether the defendant is in military service, 50 U.S.C. § 3931(b). Petitioner does not, however, claim to have ever provided such an affidavit to the Circuit Court. *See* [Pet. at 3-5]. Thus, the judgment that was set aside never should have issued in the first place, as the procedural requirements of federal law were not followed.

⁴ Given the lack of jurisdiction on appeal and the lack of the preparation of a Record on Appeal, Ms. Middleton’s treatment of the merits has been intentionally brief here.

CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.